**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

**The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge**

**RECEIVED
DEC 04 2018
SC Court of Appeals**

Appellant Case No.: 2017-001899

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower court err in granting the Attorney General and other Respondents relief from default as to Buchanan's and Pope's counterclaims?
- II. Did the lower court err in failing to disqualify Respondents' counsel from representing the Attorney General and in failing to enjoin Bauknight from acting on behalf of the Attorney General?
- III. Did the lower court err in ruling that Attorney General Wilson cannot be deposed in a tort suit the Attorney General brought in 2010?
- IV. Did the lower court err in dismissing the Attorney General as a party under Rule 21 SCRPC?

Statement of the Case

This is an appeal from the dismissal of the Attorney General of South Carolina (“AG”) as a Plaintiff in a lawsuit he and others filed against Appellant and Robert Buchanan, Jr. in 2010.¹ [R.pp. 176-188; R.p. 1617] Appellant also appeals certain rulings issued prior to the dismissal. [R.pp. 1-2; R.pp. 19-24; R.pp. 33-38; R.pp. 51-53; R.pp. 59-60]

From November 20, 2007, until May 26, 2009, Buchanan and Appellant served as personal representatives under the will of entertainer James Brown dated August 1, 2000 (the “Will”) and as trustees of Brown’s 2000 Irrevocable Trust (“PR/Trustees”).² [R.pp. 181-182; R.p. 1617; R.pp. 1378-1386; R.pp. 1464-1503; R.p. 1322; R.pp. 380-382A]

a. Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion to Set Aside Default

Respondents’ Complaint was filed in Richland County on May 19, 2010.³ [R.pp. 176-188] The Complaint asserts that by appealing a settlement brokered by the AG in 2008, and other acts, Buchanan and Appellant caused tens of millions of dollars damage to the financial legacy of entertainer James Brown. [R.pp. 178-188]

The AG’s settlement referenced in the Complaint was approved by the circuit court on May 26, 2009. [R.p. 178] An appeal of the AG’s settlement was pending when this

¹ At the time the suit was filed the Honorable Henry Dargan McMaster was AG. In January 2011 the Honorable Alan McCrory Wilson became AG. [R.p. 688; R.pp. 592-595; R.pp. 708-711]

² Buchanan was a party to this suit until July 2012. [R.p.1520; R.pp. 1338-1340; R.pp. 386-389; R.pp. 495-497; R.pp. 580-583; R.pp. 585-591; R.p. 68; R.pp. 1579-80; R.pp. 1108-1139; R.p. 93; R.pp. 72-73]

³ The case was filed in the Richland County Probate Court, and removed to circuit court. It was assigned to the Honorable L. Casey Manning. [R.p. 178]

suit was filed. [R.pp. 178, 196; R.pp. 2000-2004]

In their Answer and Counterclaim Buchanan and Pope deny all wrongdoing. [R.pp. 337-350] They assert that the AG's settlement and other actions by Respondents have damaged them and James Brown's estate and 2000 Trust. [R.pp. 350-369] The counterclaim seeks actual and punitive damages and offset against Respondents for abuse of process; interference with contract; civil conspiracy; and violations of S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-106 (2013) of the South Carolina Probate Code ("SCPC"). [R.pp. 364-370]

On November 10, 2010, after Respondents failed to timely respond to Buchanan's and Pope's counterclaims, an Affidavit of Default was filed. [R.pp. 1513-1515]

On November 16, 2010, Respondents served a Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default. [R.pp. 373-375; R.pp. 376-378; R.pp. 577-579] They also served a proposed Response to Buchanan's and Pope's counterclaim. [R.pp. 380-382A; R.pp. 51-53]

On December 17, 2012, a hearing was held on the Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default. [R.p. 52; R.pp. 558-560; R.pp. 485-488; R.pp. 1579-1580; R.pp. 481-484] By order dated October 13, 2015, the circuit court granted Respondents' Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default. [R.pp. 51-53]

**b, Order Declining to Disqualify Respondents' Counsel or Enjoin
Bauknight**

On May 18, 2011, Buchanan and Pope filed a motion to disqualify the law firm of Kenneth Wingate, Esq., from serving as sole counsel of record to the AG while serving as counsel to all remaining Respondents. [R.pp. 477-480; R.pp. 1617-1633; R.pp. 1581-1601; R.pp. 1689-1743; R.pp. 481-484] The motion also sought to enjoin Russell L. Bauknight from purporting to act as agent for the AG and State of South

Carolina. [R.pp. 481-484; R.pp. 1634-1665; R.pp. 1689-1691; R.pp. 493-494; R.pp. 1744-1748; R.pp. 606-07; R.p. 1605; R.pp. 471-473]

The motion was based in part on a May 4, 2011, Inventory of James Brown's assets filed by Bauknight valuing James Brown's music empire at \$4,697,736. [R.pp. 478-79] The motion asserted that the approximately \$4.7 million value was less than 1/12 the actual fair market value of Brown's music empire. [R.p. 478]

The motion asserts Respondents' counsel cannot simultaneously represent the AG, who has a duty to protect Brown's private foundation, while representing Respondent Terry Brown ("Terry"), who is seeking to purchase the music empire. [R.pp. 478-79] The motion asserts that a sale to Terry at \$5 million would reduce Brown's "I Feel Good" charity from its correct \$80 million value to less than \$1 million. [R.pp. 478-79; R.pp. 1581-1588; R.pp. 1634-1655; R.pp. 1617-1633]

The motion also asserts that the Wingate contract with the AG is void and violates Buchanan's and Pope's Due Process⁴ and First Amendment⁵ rights. [R.pp. 478-480; R.pp. 1581-1588; R.pp. 1634-1665; R.pp. 1689-1691]

Based on Bauknight's May 4, 2011 Inventory, Buchanan and Appellant also sought to enjoin Bauknight from purporting to act as agent for the AG or the State of South Carolina. [R.pp. 478-480; R.pp. 1581-1588; R.pp. 1689-1691; R.pp. 1634-1665; R.pp. 552-557]

A hearing was held on the motion on April 12, 2012. [R.pp. 59-60] On July 5,

⁴ U.S. Const., amend 1; U.S. Const., amend. XIV § 1.

⁵ U.S. Const., amend 1; U.S. Const., amend. XIV § 1.

2012, the circuit court denied the relief sought in the motion. [R.pp.59-60; R.pp. 618-627]

c. Protective Order as to Deposition of Attorney General Wilson

In 2016 AG Wilson filed a motion to bar the taking of his deposition in this case. [R.p. 33] The AG asserted that he was not AG when this lawsuit was instituted; that he lacked personal knowledge of all or most of the matters at issue in this suit; that all or most of the questions which might be asked would be subject to privilege; and that the deposition would interfere with his duties as AG. [R.pp. 33-34; R.pp. 1996, 2008-2019]

On August 29, 2016 a hearing was held on the AG's motion. [R.p. 33; R.pp. 1177, 1200-1212] By order dated September 21, 2016 the circuit court directed that the deposition of the AG not be taken in this case. [R.pp. 33-38]

d. Order Granting AG Alan Wilson's Motion to Be Dropped as Party

On March 25, 2013, following the South Carolina Supreme Court's first decision in *Wilson v. Dallas*, filed February 27, 2013, the AG filed a motion under Rule 21, *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure* ("SCRCP") to be dropped as a party to this suit. [R.p. 20; R.pp. 1800-1803; R.pp. 961-963; R.pp. 787-789; R.pp. 59-60; R.pp. 1749-1750; R.pp. 596-601; R.pp. 54-56; R.pp. 1755-1764]

On May 10, 2013 Respondents' counsel filed a Motion to be Relieved as Counsel for the AG. [R.pp. 810-811; R.p. 855] Counsel also sought a stay of all matters in this case. [R.pp. 1798-1799; R.p. 1802; R.pp. 794-799]

On April 22, 2014 the AG and other Respondents filed a written motion to stay this case. Appellant opposed the motion. [R.pp. 812-813; R.pp. 1808-1813]

On March 2, 2016, the circuit court issued a stay in this case pending further order

of the court. [R.p. 1897] Appellant objected to the stay. [R.pp. 841-845; R.pp. 1897-1910]

The stay was lifted. [R.p. 44]

On June 7, 2016, Respondents' counsel filed a Notice Withdrawing Motion to be Relieved as Counsel to the AG. [R.pp. 854-855]

In 2016 and 2017 the AG and other Respondents, though counsel, were involved in substantial discovery. [R.pp. 839-840; R.pp. 846-847; R.pp. 1931-1938; R.pp. 42-43; R.pp. 943-945; R.pp. 946-948; R.pp. 1924-1930; R.pp. 851-853; R.pp. 848-850; R.pp. 1177-1218; R.pp. 25-26; R.pp. 31-32; R.pp. 1808-1813; R.pp. 2100-2210; R.pp. 2094-2096; R.pp. 949-952; R.pp. 27-28; R.p. 2227 (Under Seal); R.pp. 31-32; R.pp. 956-963; R.pp. 25-26; R.pp. 969-974; R.pp. 1939-1995]

In 2016 the AG and other Respondents filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to Appellant's counterclaims.⁶ [R.pp. 1177, 1206-1232; R.pp. 983-1053]

On August 29, 2016, a hearing was held on the AG's motion to be dropped as a party under Rule 21. [R.pp. 1177-1214, 1217-1233; R.p. 20]

By order dated May 31, 2017, the AG's motion to be dropped as a party under Rule 21 was granted. [R.p. 20]

On August 2, 2017, Appellant's motion to alter, amend or vacate the order dismissing the AG as a party was denied. [R.pp. 1-2] Appellant received it on August 14, 2017.

The Notice of Appeal was served and filed on September 12, 2017.

⁶ Appellant had previously moved for summary judgment as to the AG and others. [R.pp. 787-789]

Statement of Facts⁷

On May 8, 2013 the South Carolina Supreme Court issued its final decision in *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 743 S.E.2d 746 (2013). [R.p. 20] By May 10, 2013, Bauknight had been temporarily reinstated as Brown's fiduciary. He continues to be Trustee of Respondent Legacy Trust. [R.p. 179]

On May 29, 2013, counsel for Tommie Rae Brown ("Tommie Rae"), Deanna Brown Thomas ("Deanna") and other Respondents announced to Judge Early their intention to reinstate the AG's settlement the Supreme Court had just voided. [R.p. 1079, ¶142 – 146]

On June 13, 2013, at the request of Tommie Rae and other Respondents, Judge Early issued orders excluding Buchanan and Pope from participating in any Aiken County case except their own claims cases. [R.pp. 1079-1080; R.p. 1044]

In August 2013, Tommie Rae and Respondent James B. filed Termination Notices with the U.S. Copyright Office. They were seeking to secure, between 2015 and 2023, U.S. royalties from more than 90 of the 900 copyrights James Brown gave his "I Feel Good" Charity [R.pp. 1091-1093]

In his August 2013 deposition, Bauknight was questioned about the \$4.7 million at-death valuation of Brown's music empire (Schedule F, Estate Tax Return) prepared by Philpott, Ball and Werner ("PBW"). [R.pp. 2103-2106] Bauknight identified Peter Afterman as the only "person familiar with the estate and the music industry and commonsense view of business and popular culture" he could recall who had consulted

⁷ Appellant incorporates the Statement of the Case in this Statement of the Facts.

with PBW. [R.pp. 2103-2104]

In 2015 Tommie Rae was paid \$1 million dollars for what she described as the sale of three of Brown's 900 copyrights. [R.p. 2011]

On October 13, 2015, the circuit court granted Respondents' November 2010 Motion for Relief From Default. [R.pp. 51-53]

In deposition testimony in 2016, the Honorable Henry McMaster, now Governor of South Carolina ("Governor McMaster") testified that he had not authorized this suit to be brought in the name of the AG, and did not authorize Bauknight to bring this suit on behalf of the AG. [R.pp. 1055-1058]

In 2016 the AG, Legacy Trust, and other Respondents moved to consolidate discovery in this case with discovery in Aiken County Case 2013-CP-02-1337 ("Aiken 1337"). [R.pp. 846-847; R.pp. 31-32]

On May 17, 2016 the AG and others moved for summary judgment as to the counterclaims raised by Buchanan and Pope. [R.p. 984]

In 2016, Respondent James B. was awarded approximately \$700,000 in legal and GAL fees from James Brown's estate. [R.pp. 2011-2012]

At the request of AG and other Respondents, Appellants' 139 boxes of documents compiled in this case were made available for inspection and copying by Respondents' counsel the week of May 1, 2017. [R.p. 30]

On March 9, 2017, at the request of the AG and other Respondents, the circuit court issued an order requiring all affidavits filed by Appellant to be filed under seal, and sealing, without review, an Affidavit of Appellant. [R.pp. 27-28]

On March 27, 2017 Appellant's valuation expert Richard B. Alexander, was

deposed by Bauknight's counsel in Aiken 1337. [R.pp. 2178-2191]

In March 2017, Respondents' Termination Rights expert Roger Miller confirmed that James Brown's music catalog was "solid gold," and that \$45 million to \$60 million would be expected for the value of copyrights at his death in 2006. [R.pp. 995-996; R.pp. 2109-2110; R.pp. 1104-1105]

On April 10, 2017 Appellant's expert Wallace K. Lightsey, Esq. was deposed in Aiken 1337. [R.pp. 2157-2176]

On April 11, 2017 Thomas Pope, Esq., was deposed in Aiken 1337. [R.pp. 2191-2208]

On April 14, 2017, Respondents' expert Ellison Thomas, CPA, was deposed. [R.pp. 2145-2156]

On April 20, 2017, Respondent Tommie Rae stated in a filing in this case:

Ms. Pope's ill-considered appeal of the 2008 settlement agreement cost the charitable trust tens of millions of dollars. In that agreement, as the court is well-aware, Mrs. Brown and the Brown children contributed approximately 50% of all the termination right proceeds to the charitable trust. Because Ms. Pope succeeded in destroying the settlement agreement, the charitable trust lost the right to these tens of millions of dollars of termination rights proceeds. Because Mrs. Brown has now agreed to contribute 65% of her share of the termination rights proceeds, the charitable trust will benefit immensely. It appears, however, that the Brown children's share of the termination rights proceeds will remain irretrievably lost to the charitable trust – thanks to Ms. Pope's appeal. [R.p. 972, footnote1]

By 2017 some Respondents had asserted that Tommie Rae was not Brown's spouse, thus having no Termination Rights. [R.p. 1048; R.pp. 2118, 2133]

Argument

I. The lower court erred in granting the Attorney General and other Respondents relief from default as to Buchanan's and Pope's counterclaims.

A. This Court's Standard of Review for Lower Court Order Setting Aside Entry of Default

A court may set aside an entry of default if good cause is shown. Rule 55(c), SCRCF. Whether good cause is established is left to the sound discretion of the lower court. *Williams v. Vanvolkenburg*, 312 S.C. 373, 375, 440 S.E.2d 408, 409 (Ct. App. 1994). An abuse of discretion arises if the lower court's decision is controlled by an error of law or is without evidentiary support. *Bage, LLC v. Se. Roofing Co. of Spartanburg, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 457, 471, 646 S.E.2d 153, 160 (Ct. App. 2007). A failure to exercise discretion amounts to an abuse of that discretion. *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (Ct.App.1997). When a trial judge is vested with discretion but his ruling reveals no discretion was in fact exercised, an error of law has occurred. *Balloon Plantation, Inc. v. Head Balloons, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 152, 155, 399 S.E.2d 439, 441 (1990). In determining whether to set aside an entry of default, the factors the lower court "should consider are: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted." *Bage* at 472, 646 S.E.2d at 161.

B. Discussion

In an order dated October 13, 2015, the lower court set aside the entry of default as to all Plaintiffs under Rule 55 SCRCF. The court held that the Attorney General was never in default, and that Respondents had shown good cause for such relief. The court relied on Rule 55 (c) SCRCF , which states in relevant part that "[f]or good cause shown the court

may set aside an entry of default...”

The court also relied on *Wham v Shearson Lehman Bros.* 298 S.C. 462, 465, 381 S.E.2d 499, 502 (Ct. App. 1989).

In 2015 our Supreme Court reiterated the standard for a party seeking relief from an entry of default. In *White Oak Manor, Inc., v. Lexington Insurance Company*, 407 S.C. 1, 753 S.E.2d 587 (2014), our Supreme Court ruled as follows:

The standard for granting relief from an entry of default under Rule 55(c) is “mere good cause.” “This standard requires a party seeking relief from entry of default under Rule 55 (c) to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the entry of the default would serve the interests of justice.” *Sundown Operating Co., v. Intedge Indus., Inc.* 383 S.C. 601, 607, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009).

‘Once a party has put forth a satisfactory explanation for the default, the trial court must consider: (1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; and (3) the degree of prejudice to the Plaintiff if relief is granted.’ *Id.* at 607-608, 681 S.E.2d at 888. [Emphasis supplied].

Respondents did not meet the first prong of the test. Buchanan’s and Appellant’s Answer and Counterclaim was timely served on Respondents’ counsel at his proper address by hand-delivery. [R.pp. 1513-1515; R.pp. 373-375] Counsel does not recall receiving the Answer and Counterclaim, but his file contains a copy with his own handwritten notation. [R.pp. 1535-1537]

As explained in *White Oak Manor, id.*, a determination of “good cause” under Rule 55, SCRCP, requires first that the defaulting party must provide a justifiable explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default would serve the interests of justice. Respondents’ motion does not meet that test.

In *Roche v. Young Brothers, Inc.* 318 S.C. 207, 456 S.E.2d 897 (1995), the Supreme

Court ruled that “losing a summons and complaint within the corporation” was not a ground to set aside default. *Id* at 212, 456 S.E.2d at 900. In that case the Supreme Court reinstated the entry of default and remanded the case for a damages hearing.

In *Richardson v. PV, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 682 S.E.2d 263 (2009), the Supreme Court held that the insurance company’s negligence in failing to timely answer was imputed to the insured, and was not “good cause.” The courts have consistently held that “the negligence of an attorney or an insurance company is imputable to a defaulting litigant.” *Richardson*, 682 S.E.2d at 267, citing *Roberts v. Peterson*, 292 S.C. 149, 355 S.E.2d 280 (Ct.App. 1987).

Respondents presented no evidence with the filing or at the hearing of a meritorious defense. [R.pp. 1535-1537]

Had the AG and other Respondents met all other criteria for relief for default, the degree of prejudice to Buchanan and Pope should still have precluded a grant of relief from default.

When this suit was filed, the devaluation to \$4.7 million was already in progress. [R.pp. 1996-2020; R.pp. 997-998] In addition, Respondent James B. had already filed a Petition for Review of Compensation in Aiken. [R.pp. 193-203; R.pp. 383-385; R.pp. 87-92] The only basis for this suit was to damage Buchanan and Pope in order to derail the appeal, which became *Wilson*.

The prejudice to the careers of two lawyers when the State’s highest legal officer, for seven years, has claimed they have committed the federal felony of overstating the value of the assets of a world-renowned entertainer in sworn IRS filings for the

improper purpose of securing a \$5 million commission cannot be overstated.⁸ [R.pp. 814-823; R.pp. 1852-1854]

The finding that the AG was never in default is erroneous. When the AG elects to enter a proceeding, he must abide by the Rules of Civil Procedure. *Ex Parte Condon v. State*, 354 S.C. 634, 583 S.E.2d 430 (2003). [R.pp. 1842-1851]

The Order Granting Relief From Default should be reversed. The matter should be remanded for a determination of damages.

II. The lower court erred in failing to disqualify Respondents' counsel from representing the Attorney General and failing to enjoin Bauknight from acting on behalf of the Attorney General.

A. This Court's Standard of Review for the Order Denying Motion to Disqualify and Injunction

A circuit court's ruling on a motion to disqualify a party's attorney is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. See *Orangeburg Sausage Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co.*, 316 S.C. 331, 347–48, 450 S.E.2d 66, 75 (Ct. App. 1994) (finding no abuse of discretion in the circuit court's ruling disqualifying an attorney from acting as an advocate but allowing the attorney to act as a witness). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the [circuit] court's ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence.” *Lawing v. Univar, USA, Inc.*, 415 S.C. 209, 225, 781 S.E.2d 548, 556–57 (2015).

“Actions for injunctive relief are equitable in nature.” *Shaw v. Coleman*, 373 S.C. 485, 492, 645 S.E.2d 252, 256 (Ct. App. 2007). When reviewing actions in equity, this Court may “correct errors of law and may find facts in accordance with its own view of the

⁸ In 2017 the AG began taking the position that he is protected for his acts in this suit by prosecutorial immunity. [R.pp. 2088-2092]

preponderance of the evidence.” *Blackmon v. Weaver*, 366 S.C. 245, 249, 621 S.E.2d 42, 44 (Ct. App. 2005).

B. Discussion

This is the first case known to Appellant within the State, and perhaps within the nation, where the State/AG, through a private law firm, has joined with private non-residents of the State, including minors without GALs, to bring a tort suit against fiduciaries protecting a 501(c)(3) charity, for the benefit of the individuals. [R.pp. 1308-1310; R.pp. 1337-1338; R.pp. 178-180]

Although the AG is not an attorney in the proceeding, the office of the AG – and not the State’s general fund – will receive 10% of the legal fees payable to Respondents’ counsel related to the charity. [R.pp. 1060-1061]

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