THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2010-CP-40-4900

RECEIVED

JAN 11 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2017-001899

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

Initially, Roche does not stand for the proposition the Appellant has offered. The question in Roche was principally whether service of process was sufficient under Rules 4 and 5, SCRPC. The default referred to was a default *judgment* entered after the defendant was not provided notice of the damages hearing. The trial court had found "that the default was not the result of inadvertence or excusable neglect." Id. at 900.² The Supreme Court agreed, but reversed the judgment, because the defendant had not been given notice of the damages hearing. Thus, the "entry of default" was reinstated so that a proper damages hearing could be conducted. Roche does not specifically discuss the applicable standard for setting aside either an entry of default or a default judgment. However, the language "inadvertence" and "excusable neglect" are taken from Rule 60(b)(1), which constitute a higher standard than Rule 55(c) good cause standard. Thus, Roche is not applicable to this case.

² Appellant correctly cites the wording of Roche that "[l]osing a summons and compliant within the corporation is not a ground to set aside a default judgment." However, for that proposition our Supreme Court relies on Inter-City Prods. Corp. v. Willey, 149 F.R.D. 563 (M.D.Tenn.1993), a United States District Court order from the Sixth Circuit. The Roche opinion parenthetically summarizes the Inter-City order with the words, "no error in not setting aside default judgment based on filing or clerical error which resulted in failure of in-house counsel to discover service of process and make appearance on behalf of corporation." Roche, 456 S.E.2d at 900. But when examined, this foreign jurisdiction's opinion does *not* contain the referenced language. Moreover, the opinion does not deal with setting aside a default. It deals only with motions to strike, to dismiss, and issues concerning personal jurisdiction. The order says nothing about grounds for setting aside a default.

Similarly, Appellant relies on Richardson for the proposition that the negligence of an attorney is imputed to the defaulting litigant, and that failure to timely file an answer is not good cause to set aside a default. Likewise, Richardson involves setting aside a default *judgment* under Rule 60(b) and is, thus, not applicable here. Moreover, Appellant, does not inform the Court of the entire basis for the ruling in Richardson. There, in addition to failing to timely answer, the defaulting party waited over two months to file to set aside the default, did not assert a meritorious defense, and did not argue lack of prejudice if the default were lifted, all required elements to lift a default. *Id.* at 267. Therefore, Richardson is easily distinguished from the instant appeal, where a default judgment was never entered, and where Respondents filed their motion to set aside the default one day after learning of the entry of default, asserted a meritorious defense, and argued lack of prejudice if the default was lifted.

The circuit court heard, assessed, and ultimately ruled in its discretion on Respondents' explanation of good cause and found that Respondents had made an adequate explanation of good cause and that the interests of justice would be served by setting aside the default, stating, "Plaintiffs have demonstrated good cause for setting aside the entry of default," and "the record in this case demonstrates that the Plaintiffs have shown good cause for failing to serve an answer on or before November 1, 2010 and the interests of justice will be served by vacating any entry of default." (R. p. 52) Order Granting Pls.' Motion to Set aside Entry of Default at 5-6.

3. The Circuit Court properly considered all of the factors set forth in Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros.

a. The Circuit Court concluded that Respondents had acted promptly in response to the notification of default.

Respondents filed an Answer to Appellant's counterclaims, along with a motion with set aside the entry of default, one day after being served Appellant's affidavit of default. The trial

court concluded, and there can be no reasonable doubt, that a one day response constituted acting promptly. (R. p. 52) Id. at 2.

b. The Court concluded Respondents presented evidence of a meritorious defense.

A party seeking relief from default must present evidence of a meritorious defense. Stark at 510, 602 S.E.2d 102. Evidence of a meritorious defense may be contained in the pleadings or be made by affidavit or by other evidence. McClurg v. Deaton 380 S.C. 563, 575, 671 S.E.2d 87, 94.

Respondents produced evidence of a meritorious defense in (1) their memorandum of law in support of their motion to set aside the default (R. pp. 1666-1672 [pp. 2219-2226; pp. 376-379]) (Pls.' Mem. of Law in Support of the Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default (April 11, 2012)); (2) at oral argument during the hearing on their motion (R. p. 1151, line 22 – p. 1152, line 4) (Transcript of Hearing at p. 25-26); and (3) in a supplemental filing with the Court following oral argument (R. p. 769-774) (Suppl. To Pls.' Motion to Set Aside the Entry of Default (December 17, 2012)). The meritorious defense is anchored in Respondents' affirmative claims against the Appellant. Respondents argued to the circuit court that their causes of action in the Complaint were meritorious defenses to Appellant's counterclaims, because if these primary claims prevail in part or in whole, Appellant could not logically succeed in her counterclaims, which all have their gravamen in the allegation that Respondents' Complaint was improper. (R. pp. 1670-1671) Pls.' Mem. of Law in Support of the Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default.

Respondents also argued that their Answer to Appellant's counterclaims, denying the factual assertions of Appellant's counterclaims, also constituted a meritorious defense. (R. pp. 1670-1671) Id.

Respondents also submitted a supplement to its oral argument in which it provided deposition testimony of Mr. Buddy Dallas, a former fiduciary of the Estate, who testified that during the period in which Appellant served as fiduciary, The Estate lost millions of dollars through poor management, further establishing a meritorious defense to Appellant's counterclaims. (R. p. 773, lines 3-21; p. 774, lines 5-6) Deposition Testimony of Albert "Buddy" Dallas, Esq. pp. 35:3-21, 35:19-21, and 36:5-6.

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, Respondents asserted the defense of *res judicata*/collateral estoppel as a meritorious defense, (R. p. 1670) Pls.' Mem. of Law in Support of the Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default, and Respondents ultimately secured summary judgment against Appellant on all of her counterclaims on the basis of collateral estoppel based on the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in Wilson v. Dallas, conclusively demonstrating that collateral estoppel truly was a meritorious defense. (R. pp. 3-18) Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment as to Defendant's Counterclaims.

Therefore, the record contains sufficient evidence for the trial court to conclude Respondents "presented evidence of a meritorious defense to the Counterclaims." (R. pp. 51-53) Order granting Pls. Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default (October 13, 2015).

c. The Circuit Court concluded there was no prejudice to Appellant in setting aside the default.

The circuit court must also consider the degree of prejudice to the non-defaulting party in setting aside the default. Stark at 510, 602 S.E.2d at 102.

Respondents argued that since discovery in Case 4900 was ongoing that Appellant would have ample opportunity to develop the facts needed to establish her counterclaims. (R. p. 1671) Pls. Memorandum of Law in Support of the Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default (April 11, 2012).

Appellant argues in her brief that she would suffer sufficient prejudice to preclude setting aside the default, because she alleges, without any support, that the Respondents' suit was initiated to damage her reputation by alleging she committed a federal felony in overstating the date of death value of The Estate to the Internal Revenue Service in seeking to secure a \$5,000,000 commission. This is a conclusory argument based on no facts in the record. Respondents have never accused Appellant of committing any crime, state or federal, and have stated many, many times in other hearings and filings that they are not accusing her of a crime. (R. p. 1152 [incorrect reference]) Transcript of Hearing on Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default, p. 26. Appellant is being accused only of negligence and breach of fiduciary duty. Appellant's protest that she is being accused of a felony is a fabrication entirely of her own making and is a bad faith representation of what is in the pleadings, memorandum, and the record of Case 4900. She has no factual basis for this allegation. *See* Appellant's Initial Brief at 15-16.

Also, the impact on reputation that she suggests, if any, is a function of the allegations of the Complaint, not anything relating to the lifting of default on her counterclaims. Whether or not her reputation is impacted as a result of Case 4900 is not a function of prejudice, but of the merits of Case 4900. It is the unavoidable nature of a professional negligence action to have the potential to reflect negatively on the professional being sued. Furthermore, Appellant cites no authority for her contention that reputational damage constitutes unfair prejudice; thus, her claim fails for lack of legal foundation.

Based upon the above, which are adequately documented in the record, the circuit court, in its discretion, concluded that Appellant was "not prejudiced by this Court setting aside the default." (R. p. 52) Order Granting Pls. Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default ¶ 4.

4. The Circuit Court also articulated additional grounds for setting aside the default.

a. Respondents were otherwise defending under Rule 55(a), SCRPC.

As an additional ground to set aside the default, Respondents argued that although they did not timely answer Appellant's counterclaims, by virtue of the extensive motions practice that was ongoing, they were "otherwise defend[ing] as provided by these rules ..." within the meaning of Rule 55(a), SCRPC, and, therefore, should not be held in default. (R. p. 52) Order Granting Pls. Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default ¶ 7. The construction of this phrase appears to be a matter of first impression. However, the matter is dealt with in footnote number 2 in Stark, which says, "The words 'otherwise defend' refer to the interposition of various challenges to such matters as service, venue, and the sufficiency of the prior pleading, any of which might prevent a default if pursued in the absence of a responsive pleading." Stark Truss Co., Inc. v. Superior Const. Corp., 360 S.C. 503, 512, fn2, 602 S.E.2d 99, 104, fn2 (Ct. App. 2004).

The plain meaning of the Rule should control. Appellant filed a motion to change venue and a motion to dismiss in lieu of an answer to Respondents' Complaint. Respondents were "otherwise defend[ing]" against these motions "as provided by these rules." Therefore, Respondents were not ignoring the litigation, had not failed to make an appearance, or simply refusing to participate in the legal proceedings. Instead, Respondents were actively engaged in defending Appellant's efforts to ward off their case at the 12(b)(6) stage or relocate the fight to what she apparently believed would be a more favorable venue, and the Respondents were defending under the rules. Therefore, in its discretion the circuit court was correct to cite as an additional ground for lifting the default that Respondents were otherwise defending and not subject to default. (R. pp. 51-53) Order Granting Pls. Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default.

b. The Attorney General was not in default under Rule 55(e), SCRPC.

Appellant makes a conclusory statement that “[t]he finding that the AG was never in default is erroneous.” Appellant’s Amended Initial Brief, p. 16. She relies on Ex Parte Condon v. State, for the proposition that when the Attorney General enters a proceeding he must abide by the Rules of Civil Procedure. She cites to no specific portion of this case to support her proposition of error. However, the Attorney General is abiding by the Rules. The plain language of Rule 55(e) protects the Attorney General from a default judgment; thus, the Attorney General cannot be in default, for obvious public policy reasons. However, in the event that Rule 55(e) does not protect the Attorney General from default in this matter, the court’s order found that the same analysis supporting relief from default for all other Respondents also applies to the Attorney General.

C. Therefore, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion, and its Order setting aside the default must not be overturned.

Respondents presented each of these arguments to the circuit court, the circuit expressly considered each argument, and then exercised its discretion and made its ruling to set aside the default. (R. pp. 51-53) Order Granting Pls. Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default. Because there is no evidence that the circuit court abused its discretion, and because Appellant makes no persuasive argument that the circuit court abused its discretion (she merely argues that she disagrees with the results of the court’s decision), the court’s order setting aside the default cannot be disturbed by an appellate court and must stand.

III. The Court did not err in denying Appellant's motion to disqualify Sweeny, Wingate & Barrow, P.A., from representing the Attorney General and to enjoin Bauknight from purportedly speaking on behalf of the Attorney General, and Appellant makes only conclusory statements about the same, with no support from the law or the record and, therefore, has abandoned her appeal on these issues.

Appellant argues the circuit court erroneously denied her motion to disqualify Sweeny, Wingate and Barrow, P.A., from representing Respondents and to enjoin Bauknight from purportedly speaking for the Attorney General. Appellant claims it is a constitutional violation of due process, under both the United States and South Carolina Constitutions, and the separation of powers, for the Attorney General to engage a private law firm on a contingency fee basis in this matter. Appellant further claims that Bauknight is somehow acting on behalf of the Attorney General, and that for some unarticulated reason this is improper.

Appellant makes no attempt to support her contentions with legal authority. She makes one footnote reference to the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article One Section Eight of the South Carolina Constitution. However, she makes no effort to cite the sections of these documents she believes to be applicable or to make any legal argument from any another authority based upon these sections. Furthermore, her one legal reference in the body of her brief on this argument is to Hallum v. Bowens, 318 S.C. 1, 428 S.E.2d 894 (Ct. App. 1993). However, Hallum deals with jurisdictional issues and has nothing to do with the claims Appellant makes against Sweeny, Wingate and Barrow, P.A., or Bauknight. Appellant's arguments on these points are conclusory at best.

A. Conclusory statements lacking support of the law or the record require the appellate court to conclude that Appellant has abandoned her appeal of these issues.

An Appellant is deemed to have abandoned an issue if she makes only conclusory arguments or fails to provide any argument or supporting authority. First Sav. Bank v. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994). Furthermore, an issue is abandoned if argument

in appellate brief is only conclusory. R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcounty Reg'l Transp. Auth. 343 S.C. 424, 540 S.E.2d 113 (Ct.App. 2000). A simple review of Appellant's brief on these issues, as noted above, reveals that she has argued in a conclusory fashion without support of any applicable legal authority. Therefore, she must be deemed to have abandoned these issues.

B. Should Appellant not be deemed to have abandoned these issues, Respondents rely on their arguments outlined in their Memorandum of Law in Opposition, *inter alia*, to Disqualify Sweeny, Wingate, and Barrow, to Enjoin Russell Bauknight.

Respondents incorporate by reference into this brief their arguments made by memorandum in opposition to Appellant's motion to disqualify Sweeny, Wingate, and Barrow and enjoin Bauknight, a copy of which is made a part of the designation of matter for this appeal. (R. pp. 1673-1688; pp. 96-133) Pls. Memo in Opposition to Defs.' Motion to Disqualify.

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